ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 25 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KENNETH ANDREW LYNCH,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-212547

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. The trial judge erred in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal in Appellant's favor concerning two counts of murder and grand larceny because the prosecution failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence tending to prove Appellant's guilt.

II. The trial court's refusal to use an instruction explaining how to use circumstantial evidence during his deliberations as fact-finder violated Appellant's state and federal constitutional rights requiring the prosecution prove his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt because the instruction used failed to clarify how to evaluate circumstantial evidence.

III. In violation of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article One, section ten of the South Carolina Constitution, the trial judge erred in failing to suppress evidence seized in connection with Appellant's arrest, including all of the items found in his luggage, and Appellant's extradition, where the arrest warrant issued was not supported by probable cause due to the officer's omission of vital information, which placed the scenario in an entirely different light.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 11, 2008, a Lexington County grand jury indicted Appellant for two counts of murder (2008-GS-32-2652 & 2008-GS-32-2653) and grand larceny of property having a value of five thousand dollars or more (2007-GS-32-525). R. 1871. The Eleventh Circuit Solicitor's Office served Appellant with its notice to seek of intent to seek the death penalty. The matter proceeded to a bench trial before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. on April 16, 2012. R. 1. Donald Myers, Samuel Hubbard, and David Graham prosecuted Appellant. William McGuire, Benjamin Stitely, and Eric Drylie represented Appellant. R. 1.

After a ten-day trial concerning the guilt-or-innocence of Appellant, Judge Griffith found Appellant guilty on both counts of murder and grand larceny. R. 1793, line 21 – R. 1794, line 3. At the conclusion of the sentencing proceeding, Judge Griffith, in a written sentencing order, found the prosecution proved two statutory aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt. Specifically, the judge found the prosecution proved Appellant committed the murders by one scheme or course of conduct and that one of the murders was that of a child less than eleven years of age. On May 8, 2012, Judge Griffith sentenced Appellant to two terms of life imprisonment, which he ordered to run consecutive to each other and to the sentence of ten years' imprisonment, which he imposed for the grand larceny conviction. R. 1797, line 9 – R. 1802, line 10; R. 1870. By a motion filed on May 17, 2012, Appellant moved for a new trial. R. 1868. Judge Griffith denied the motion by written order. R. 1870.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

I. The trial judge erred in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal in Appellant's favor concerning two counts of murder and grand larceny because the prosecution failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence tending to prove Appellant's guilt.

Relevant facts

Appellant and Portia Washington were involved in a romantic relationship and were living together in 2006. R. 107, line 15 – R. 108, line 12; R. 117, lines 3-8; R. 134, lines 19-21; R. 143, lines 6-7; R. 156, lines 3-13; R. 180, lines 15-16; R. 199, lines 8-11; R. 247, line 14 – R. 248, line 6; R. 265, lines 20-22; R. 315, lines 16-17; R. 316, lines 10-20; R. 319, lines 18-24; R. 799, lines 3-8. Portia cared for her granddaughter, Angelica Livingston, who also lived with Appellant and Portia.¹ In 2006, Angelica was the only daughter of Theresa Brown, who was Portia's daughter. R. 1663, lines 5-13; R. 1666, lines 19-21.

Tonya Oree, Portia's cousin, testified that although she and Portia were very close, Oree did not know Appellant. R. 1662, line 22 – R. 1663, line 4; R. 1663, lines 23-24. Oree claimed Portia moved to a new apartment because she wanted to be alone. Oree maintained that Appellant was not supposed to move into the apartment. However, Appellant completed the lease agreement, and he, Portia, and Angelica moved there together. R. 1670, line 1 – R. 1671, line 22. At some unspecified time she had been on the phone with Portia and heard Appellant fussing about Portia's car because he wanted the car and Portia refused to give it to him. R. 1673, line 24 - R. 1674, line 14. Oree felt that Portia did not like Appellant, did not want to be with Appellant, and did not want

¹ Angelica's school records indicated that Angelica was in Portia's custody, rather than her biological mother's, because Portia did not know where the biological mother was. R. 928, lines 10-25.

Appellant driving her car. R. 1675, lines 15-24.² However, Portia was happy about the future because Appellant was supposed to move out and buy a car in June or July. R. 1675, line 25 - R. 1676, line 11.

Although Portia had used drugs and drank alcohol in the past, her mother, Sallie Jones, claimed Portia was no longer doing those things in 2006. R. 193, line 21 – R. 194, line 10.³ Jones allowed that Angelica’s mother, Theresa, was “riding the streets” at the time. R. 194, lines 11-15. Jones further revealed that Portia was still married to Nathaniel Washington as the two had not divorced despite a lengthy separation. R. 194, lines 21-25. She felt that Portia was not happy in her relationship with Appellant. R. 199, lines 11-20. Supposedly, Portia had given Jones the second key to Portia’s new car because she did not want Appellant driving her car anymore. R. 202, lines 5-6; R. 203, line 14 – R. 207, line 3. However, on cross-examination, it was established that Appellant had driven Angelica to her house in Portia’s car on multiple occasions. R. 225, lines 15-23.

Evidence of Portia’s and Angelica’s disappearance

Portia’s friend, Linda Miller last saw Portia and Angelica on June 9, 2006 between 6:00 p.m. and 7:30 p.m. R. 112, lines 11-17. Portia did not speak of traveling to Miller at that time. R. 115, lines 4 - 6.

In June 2006, Shyla Andrews was the hairstylist for Portia and Angelica, who had standing appointments on Saturday mornings. R. 132, line 4 – R. 133, line 3; R. 133,

² Portia’s son, Samuel Brown, Jr., also testified that Portia did not want Appellant driving her car and no longer wanted to be in a relationship with Appellant. R. 1691, lines 13-24.

³ Portia’s aunt, Vernelle Bellamy, also testified that Portia previously had a drug problem. R. 234, line 25 – R. 235, line 4.

lines 8-21. Andrews last saw Portia and Angelica on Saturday, June 10, 2006 for such an appointment. Andrews did Angelica's hair while Portia ran errands. Andrews recalled the two were in Portia's car. R. 133, line 22 – R. 135, line 12.

Lela Green, Portia's longtime friend, spoke to Portia by phone on June 10, 2006. R. 166, line 19 - R. 167, line 22. Portia indicated that she was going to the grocery store to pick up food to cook on Saturday for Sunday's dinner. R. 167, line 24 - R. 168, line 11. Additionally, Portia intended to help Green get her car fixed the following Wednesday. R. 165, line 11 – R. 166, line 14. Green testified that she and Portia planned to talk on Sunday, June 11, 2006, but never did. R. 172, lines 5-11. According to Green, Portia was happy and positive during their last conversation. R. 177, lines 11-25.

Carla Perry lived in the same apartment complex as Appellant, Portia, and Angelica in June 2006. R. 178, line 22 – R. 180, line 17. Perry last saw Portia, Angelica, and Appellant during the afternoon hours on June 10, 2006 when Portia was getting some things from her car. R. 180, line 21 – R. 181, line 21; R. 182, lines 17-25. At approximately 10:30 p.m., Perry noticed that Portia's car was not in the apartment complex parking lot and that Portia's apartment was dark. R. 184, line 11 – R. 185, line 11.

Portia's aunt, Vernelle Bellamy, saw Portia twice on Saturday, June 10, 2006. The first time Portia gave money to Bellamy to use while in Sumter shopping. Bellamy purchased an \$80 pantsuit for Portia, which she gave to Portia later on Saturday. R. 235, line 22 - R. 237, line 1; R. 237, lines 2-8. On Tuesday, June 13, 2006, Bellamy received a call from Portia's workplace, Bob Bennett Ford, indicating that Portia was not at work. R. 238, lines 7-24. Concerned, Bellamy went to the police department and to Appellant's

Portia's apartment. R. 241, lines 7-14; R. 242, lines 19-21. Although the apartment manager would not allow Bellamy into the apartment, the manager entered the apartment and found nothing out of the ordinary. R. 243, lines 1-18.⁴

Debra Hobgood worked with Portia and Appellant at Bob Bennett Ford. R. 262, lines 2-12; R. 265, line 23-24. Hobgood claimed that Portia did not allow Appellant to drive her car. R. 265, lines 15-19. Hobgood further claimed that Portia wanted to get away from Appellant. To assist Portia, in March 2006, Hobgood gave Portia money for an apartment on the condition that Appellant not move into the new apartment. R. 268, line 14 – R. 269, lines 9.⁵ Hobgood also testified that Angelica was supposed to attend summer camp in July 2006. R. 268, line 10 – R. 270, line 12.⁶ Hobgood became worried on Tuesday, June 13, 2006, when she learned that neither Portia nor Appellant were at work. Hobgood's boss contacted the police based on representations made by Hobgood, including her understanding that Portia had lied to her about no longer living with Appellant. R. 275, line 13 – R. 276, line 4; R. 277, lines 19-25. According to Hobgood, Portia was happy when she last saw her on Friday, June 9, 2006. R. 278, lines 9-11.

While working at Bob Bennett Ford, Annette Capilos and Portia became friends. R. 762, lines 4 - 24. Capilos believed Portia began dating Appellant in 2005. R. 763, lines 9-24. After Capilos resigned her position at Bob Bennett Ford, she and Portia

⁴ Ola Mathis was the property manager for the apartments where Portia and Appellant lived in 2006. R. 315, lines 16-17; R. 316, lines 10-20; R. 319, lines 18-24. On June 13, 2006, relatives of Portia arrived at the complex. R. 320, lines 2-11. Mathis entered the apartment and found everything to be in order. R. 320, line 23 – R. 323, line 5.

⁵ Hobgood also gave Portia \$800 as a down payment on her new car. R. 274, lines 6-9.

⁶ Harry Wertz, another employee at Bob Bennett Ford, also claimed Portia planned to send Angelica to church camp during the summer of 2006. R. 783, lines 7-10.

remained in contact. R. 764, lines 22-25. Based on a conversation with Portia, Capilos advised Portia to have a discussion with her bosses and to stay away from Appellant. R. 768, lines 5-20. Capilos claimed that a few days prior to June 13, 2006, she had called Portia about her upcoming birthday, but received no answer. R. 772, line 15 – R. 773, line 1.

Harry Wertz also worked with Portia and Appellant at Bob Bennett Ford. R. 781, lines 7-21; R. 788, lines 19-20. Wertz described Portia, who was a custodian, as a good employee, whose job was not in jeopardy. R. 784, line 18 – R. 785, line 10. He admitted that Portia was “wild” before, but she was no longer. R. 786, lines 6-13. Wertz was concerned on Monday, June 12, 2006 when Portia did not arrive at work. R. 787, lines 6-24. When Portia did not arrive for work on Tuesday, June 13, 2006, a co-worker drove by her apartment. R. 788, lines 5-18. He last saw Portia on Friday when she left work and she said she would see him on Monday. R. 788, line 23 – R. 789, line 7. Wertz admitted that Appellant was driving Portia’s car on Friday, June 9, 2006. R. 789, lines 13-16. Portia was “very happy” on Friday when she left work with Appellant. R. 792, lines 18-22.

Jack Clary, Portia’s supervisor at Bob Bennett Ford, described Portia as was very happy with her job and a “model” employee. R. 795, lines 13-14; R. 796, lines 16-22; R. 805, lines 14-22. Clary described Appellant as very quiet. R. 798, lines 15-23. Clary was aware of the relationship between Appellant and Portia. R. 799, lines 3-8. On Tuesday, June 13, 2006, Clary, concerned that Portia was not at work, got Portia’s address and drove to her apartment. He found her car was not there and he received no answer when he knocked on the door. R. 802, lines 1-11.

Nancy Hyler, the former office manager at Bob Bennett Ford, testified that Appellant and Portia were employees of Bob Bennett Ford in 2006. R. 744, lines 14-18; R. 745, lines 18-21; R. 746, lines 3-4. Payroll at Bob Bennett Ford ran from Thursday to Wednesday with paychecks issued on Friday. R. 746, lines 16-18. The last check issued for Portia was dated June 16, 2006, but was never picked up. R. 752, lines 1-4.⁷ According to Portia's time card, her last day of work was Wednesday, June 7, 2006. R. 746, lines 12-15; R. 749, lines 3 - 7; R. 749, lines 15-16. Although another timecard did not exist, Hyler testified that a check was cut for the week of June 8 through June 14 for Portia showing she worked eighteen hours, or approximately two days. R. 749, line 19 - R. 750, line 4. Based upon Hyler knowing that Portia did not show up for work on June 12, 2006 or thereafter, Hyler determined that the last two days of Portia's employment were Thursday and Friday of the previous week. R. 752, line 20 - R. 755, line 7. Portia did not provide notice of resigning or taking leave. R. 753, lines 5-10.

Carly Coviello, an employee with T-Mobile, testified regarding records of Portia's cell phone, which was in the name of Rosalyn Sumter. R. 688, lines 9-10; R. 690, lines 6-10.⁸ According to Coviello, the last call made by Portia's phone was at 9:26

⁷ Appellant's last paycheck was not picked up from Bob Bennett Ford. R. 757, lines 1-2. Appellant's last day working was Friday, June 9, 2006. R. 757, line 24 - R. 758, line 4. Appellant had not provided notice of resignation or leave. R. 757, lines 9-19.

⁸ Rosalyn Sumter, Portia's aunt, testified that Portia had a cell phone on Sumter's plan. Portia paid Sumter monthly. R. 806, lines 16-20; R. 808, lines 6-23. Additionally, Sumter helped Portia get her driver's license. R. 811, lines 2-21. Sumter claimed that when she visited Portia, Appellant would remain in a back room, rather than visit with Portia's visitors. As a result, Sumter never met Appellant. R. 814, line 5 - R. 815, line 14.

p.m. on June 10, 2006. The call was made using a cell tower on Leaphart Road in West Columbia. R. 690, line 15 – R. 692, line 2.

Based upon the credit records maintained by TransUnion Credit Union, Steven Newnom testified there had been no credit inquiries for Portia's records and only three addresses, all of which were in the Midlands. R. 699, lines 18 – 19; R. 701, lines 13-18; R. 702, lines 13 -20; R. 704, lines 4-17.

Portia had checking and savings accounts with Bank of America. R. 709, lines 5-20. On June 10, 2006 at 9:50 a.m., \$75 was withdrawn from the savings account at a bank in Cayce, leaving the account with a balance of \$0.72. There were no further transactions on the savings account. R. 710, lines 1- R. 713, line 4. Concerning the checking account, a check card purchase for \$20.09 to Eagle Express in West Columbia posted on June 6, 2010. On June 12, 2006, an automatic draft of \$266.77 was made to Ford. R. 713, line 5 – R. 714, line 14. On June 8, 2006, a purchase for \$8.45 at Hess was made. R. 714, lines 16-25. The account had a balance of \$214.39. R. 715, lines 4-7.

Stuart Darby was Portia's treating physician for several years. Portia's last visit was on May 23, 2006 when he treated her for an upper respiratory infection. R. 876, line 4 – R. 877, line 1. Portia had been under Dr. Darby's care for a sleep disorder and anxiety. He believed the sleep disorder was the result of stress from work and home. R. 877, line 1 – R. 878, line 22. Portia was scheduled for a follow-up visit in two months, but did not return. R. 879, line 22 – R. 880, line 22; R. 880, lines 17-21.

Portia purchased a 2005 Ford Focus on June 22, 2005, pursuant to a financing agreement with Ford Motor Credit. R. 898, line 1-899, line 18. Portia had been late on a payment only once. R. 899, line 24 – R. 900, line 1. The last payment received by Ford

Motor Credit was processed on June 12, 2006. R. 900, lines 2-3. The car was repossessed and sold at auction based upon failure to make additional payments. R. 900, lines 8-13.

Nicky Rodgers, an employee with Lexington County 911, who had access to a national database for drivers' licenses, found one driver's license for Portia and it was in South Carolina. R. 914, line 7 – R. 915, line 5. She also searched for known aliases for Portia, such as Portia Bracey and Portia Sumter, and found no other drivers' licenses. R. 917, lines 5-14.

Angelica last attended school on June 1, 2006, which was the end of her second grade year. R. 918, line 9 – R. 919, line 8. The school expected Angelica to return the next year. R. 919, line 22 – R. 920, line 4. The school district received no requests from other schools for Angelica's school transcripts. R. 921, lines 20-23.

Joe Grice was the pastor of a church in West Columbia where Portia and Angelica attended regularly in 2006. R. 930, line 18 – R. 931, line 11. The church was sponsoring a youth camp set for the week of July 4, 2006, which Portia had paid for Angelica to attend. R. 930, line 1 - R. 931, line 13.⁹ Angelica did not attend the camp, and neither Portia nor Angelica showed up at church again. R. 932, line 14 – R. 933, line 16.

Evidence of Appellant's Conduct

Takiesha Shelton, an employee of Motel 6, testified that the motel's records showed Appellant arrived at a motel in Vicksburg, Mississippi on June 12, 2009 and departed on June 13, 2009. Appellant paid cash for the room. R. 720, lines 15-16; R.

⁹ A check in the amount of \$75 had been written from Portia's account to Youth Camper on April 30, 2006. R. 716, lines 8-17; R. 717, line 25 – R. 718, line 6.

722, line 18 – R. 723, line 11; R. 724, lines 1-21; R. 725, lines 1-3: Records showed Appellant arriving on June 14, 2006 and departing on June 15, 2006 at a motel in Eloy, Arizona. Again, Appellant paid cash. R. 726, line 18 – R. 727, line 18. One receipt listed Appellant's address in Florida, but a second receipt showed his address in Cayce. R. 733, lines 16-23; R. 736, lines 14-19.¹⁰

In 2006, Appellant had two accounts with Wachovia/Wells Fargo bank – checking and savings. The records established that there were transactions occurring in both accounts originating from the Midlands of South Carolina from June 9, 2006 until June 11, 2006. R. 1191, lines 14-21; R. 1197, line 2 – R. 1201, line 6. Then, on June 13, 2006, there were three withdrawals totaling \$420 originating in Waskom, Texas. R. 1202, line 17 – R. 1203, line 24. On June 14, 2006, Appellant's savings account had a balance of \$2.23 and his checking account had a balance of \$0.08. R. 1201, lines 8-10; R. 1204, lines 3-7.

Shane Ramirez, an officer with the Texas Highway Patrol, stopped Appellant for speeding on June 14, 2006 at 12:12 p.m. at milepost 72 on I-10 in Fort Hancock, Texas. R. 661, lines 19-21; R. 662, lines 11-15; R. 663, lines 8-12; R. 667, lines 9-12; State's Exhibit #29. Appellant was driving a 2005 Ford Focus that was registered to Portia. R. 664, lines 21-25; R. 665, lines 6-16. There were no passengers in the car, but there was a child's car seat in the back. R. 666, lines 19-21; R. 670, lines 19-25. Appellant informed Ramirez that he was going to Arizona to pick up his wife.¹¹ R. 671, line 21 – R. 672, line

¹⁰ Gail Heath, a forensic document examiner with SLED, testified that the signatures on the receipts were written by Appellant. R. 1146, lines 12-20; R. 1154, lines 16-20.

¹¹ According to the apartment lease, Appellant and Portia were married. R. 337, line 22 – R. 338, line 6.

1.

Nathan Bresee worked for Customs and Border Protection in Blaine, Washington in 2006. R. 356, lines 23-25. He encountered Appellant on June 17, 2006, at 10:45 p.m. at the border. R. 356, lines 9-17. Because Appellant had been refused entry into Canada, Bresee performed a criminal history check on Appellant. He received a positive NCIC alert indicating that Appellant was a missing person. R. 356, lines 18-22; R. 361, lines 12-23; R. 386, lines 7-22. Bresee contacted the West Columbia Police Department (WCPD) as the reporting agency. R. 363, lines 13-19. Although no warrant had been issued for Appellant's arrest, the WCPD told Bresee that Appellant was a suspect in a double homicide. R. 364, lines 3-5.

Upon learning this information, Bresee and other Border Protection agents conducted two searches of Appellant's person and a search of his two bags. R. 364, lines 5-7; R. 364, lines 23-25; R. 387, line 2 – R. 388, line 8; R. 394, line 11 – R. 395, line 1. Bresee found several items in Appellant's possession that he sent to WCPD, including a Greyhound bus ticket from Seattle to Vancouver dated June 17, 2006, a Motel 6 receipt dated June 14, 2006, and a second Motel 6 receipt dated June 12, 2006. R. 390, line 1 – R. 391, line 7; R. 395, lines 5-8; R. 409, line 7 – R. 411, line 8; R. 507, line 22 – R. 508, line 4. According to Bresee, at 3:10 a.m. on June 18, 2006, WCPD confirmed to him that an arrest warrant had been issued for Appellant on the charge of grand larceny. R. 395, lines 18-25.

Courtney Polinder, an officer with the Whatcom County Sheriff's Office in Washington, received a call from Border Protection at 3:30 a.m. indicating that a warrant had been issued and required service. R. 437, line 20 – R. 438, line 1. Polinder served a

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