ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

RECEIVED

JUN 19 2014

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

SC COURT OF APPEALS

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

KENNETH ANDREW LYNCH,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2012-212547

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 11973

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

DONALD V. MYERS
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit
205 East Main Street
Lexington, SC 29072
(803) 785-8352

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

Lynch should not be in Portia's vehicle or using Portia's vehicle.⁷⁷ Franks. As a result, even including the actual alleged exculpatory information in the arrest warrant affidavit, there was still probable cause that Lynch had committed the offense of grand larceny. Franks. As a result, there is no merit to this ground. Lynch is not entitled to have any evidence, including the contents of his luggage or his incriminating statements, suppressed on this basis. Id. The contents of Lynch's luggage were discovered pursuant to a lawful search incident to arrest. West Columbia police faxed the arrest warrant for grand larceny to the Border Patrol/Customs agents, and Lynch was served with the warrant and taken into custody by Whatcom County, Washington police. United States v. Edwards, 415 U.S. 800 (1974); Illinois v. Lafayette, 462 U.S. 640 (1983); State v. Muquit, 381 S.C. 114, 671 S.E.2d 643 (Ct. App. 2009)(items in defendant's belongings when arrested can be seized without a warrant and used in evidence at trial). As a result, Judge Griffith did not err in refusing to suppress the contents of Lynch's luggage.⁷⁸

Further, Lynch's statements to the Whatcom County Deputy on the way to the Washington State jail were admissible because Lynch was not being questioned by the Deputy at

⁷⁷ Even including the alleged exculpatory information developed *during the trial*, which police did not know about at the time they sought the arrest warrant, the warrant would still contain probable cause that Lynch had stolen Portia's new car. Lynch and Portia's relationship had turned bad and was ending. Portia wanted out of the relationship and wanted Lynch out of her life. While Portia had let Lynch drive her car selectively in the past, however, shortly before she disappeared she gave her mother the spare key to her auto and informed her she no longer wanted Lynch driving her car, and another witness overheard Lynch fussing and cursing at the victim because she would not let him use her car. And, several other witnesses testified Lynch would not have been allowed to use Portia's car.

⁷⁸ Further, the contents of Lynch's luggage would have been inevitably discovered pursuant to a consent search. When Lynch was questioned by the FBI agent and the Washington Detective, he consented to the search of his luggage, and he signed over all of his property to Washington authorities. (R. 629-30). They had the lawful right to search and inventory all of the belongings in Lynch's luggage. Finally, the contents of Lynch's luggage would have been inevitably discovered because the bags were lawfully seized by the Border Patrol agents, handed over to Whatcom County, signed over by Lynch, and returned to West Columbia police by Detective Edwards, whereupon West Columbia police obtained two (2) separate search warrants for Lynch's luggage. (R. 936-951, 960-1064, Court's Ex. 32). As a result, the contents of Lynch's bags were lawfully obtained pursuant to proper *search warrant(s)* issued by a neutral and detached magistrate. Judge Griffith did not err in refusing to suppress the contents of Lynch's luggage. And, officers in West Columbia relied in good faith on those *warrants* in searching Lynch's luggage originally seized at the Canadian Border. United States v. Leon, 469 U.S. 897, 918 (1984).

that time and Lynch completely and independently volunteered those statements. See United States v. Seidman, 156 F.3d 542 (4th Cir. 1998). Furthermore, Lynch's statements to the FBI Agent and Washington Detective were admissible because Lynch's arrest was not illegal but based on a warrant supported by sufficient probable cause. Finally, Lynch's major case prints were also admissible because they were obtained pursuant to a lawful arrest. Further, Lynch's major case prints were obtained pursuant to a Schmerber Order issued by Judge Griffith. There was no objection to the admission of those major case prints in evidence at Lynch's trial. (R. 1064-68). Therefore, Lynch's motion to suppress his fingerprints received after extradition is either not preserved or irrelevant.⁷⁹

The Exclusionary Rule Should Not Apply

Even if this Court determines Judge Griffith erred, the exclusionary rule should not apply. Davis v. United States, 131 S.Ct. 2419 (2011).⁸⁰ Under the circumstances of this case,

⁷⁹ And, Lynch's DNA was obtained pursuant to a Schmerber Order of Judge Griffith. There was no objection to the admission of his buccal DNA sample when admitted for identification purposes. (R. 1070-75). And, Lynch is not raising any issue with regard to the Schmerber Order on appeal.

⁸⁰ The Court fashioned a judicially-created remedy, the exclusionary rule, which is a deterrent sanction by which the prosecution is barred from introducing evidence obtained in violation of the 4th Amendment. Id. at 2423. "Exclusion is not a 'personal constitutional right,' nor is it designed to 'redress the injury' occasioned by an unconstitutional search." Id. at 2426. "The rule's sole purpose, [the Supreme Court] has repeatedly held, is to deter future Fourth Amendment violations." Id. This Court and our state Supreme Court have recognized the same principle. "[T]he exclusionary rule was not designed to apply to every violation of the Fourth Amendment." State v. Jenkins, 398 S.C. 215, 229, 727 S.E.2d 761 (Ct. App. 2012); See State v. Weston, 329 S.C. 287, 293, 494 S.E.2d 801, 804 ("Suppression is appropriate in only a few situations. . ."); State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 113, 352 S.E.2d 471 473 (1987) ("Exclusion of evidence is not the only means available to insure that warrants are properly issued."), citing State v. Sachs 264 S.C. 541, 556, 216 S.E.2d 501, 509 (1975). In Sachs our Supreme Court observed "[t]he exclusionary rule is harsh medicine," and "[e]xclusion should be applied only where deterrence is subserved." 264 S.C. at 566, 216 S.E.2d at 514. Because "[e]xclusion exacts a heavy toll on both the judicial system and society at large," the U.S. Supreme Court and our state Supreme Court have stated "the deterrence benefits of suppression must outweigh its heavy costs" for the exclusion to be deemed appropriate. Davis, at 2427; State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 736 S.E.2d 263 (2012). "Real deterrent value is a 'necessary condition for exclusion,' but it is not 'a sufficient' one." Davis, at 2427, citing Hudson v. Michigan, 547 U.S. 586, 596, (2006). United States v. Herring, 555 U.S. 135,140, (2009) citing Leon, 468 U.S. at 923, n. 24. Police practices trigger the harsh sanction of

exclusion would not further the purposes of the exclusionary rule, and suppression is not proper. Id.⁸¹ The conduct of the investigators here did not violate Lynch's 4th Amendment rights deliberately, recklessly, or with gross negligence. Herring. Nor has Lynch shown this case involves any "recurring or systematic negligence" on the part of law enforcement. Id. In fact, exclusion would only punish the victims' family. *See Id.* (no evidence county investigators committed misconduct where they relied on neighboring counties database showing outstanding warrant existed in arresting and searching defendant and search would not be suppressed).⁸²

Harmless Error

Further, even assuming *arguendo* Judge Griffith somehow erred, it was harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Lynch's guilt apart from the contested evidence.⁸³ In making a determination regarding harmless error, this Court will look at **the entire record**. State v. Miller, 367 S.C. 329, 626 S.E.2d 328 (2006). This Court will not set aside a conviction for an insubstantial error not affecting the result when **guilt is conclusively proven by competent**

exclusion only when they are deliberate enough to yield meaningful deterrence, and culpable enough to be worth the price paid by the justice system. Davis; Herring, 555 U.S. at 144. The conduct of the officers here was neither of these things.

81 State v. Harvin, 343 S.C. 190, 194, 547 S.E.2d 497, 500 (2001)(recognizing the main purpose of the exclusionary rule is deterrence of police misconduct). *See* Gates, 462 U.S. 213 (affidavits are drafted by non-lawyers in the midst and haste of a criminal investigation).

82 Further, under the facts of this case, suppression of the evidence would make no sense where there is no evidence of police misconduct. Judge Griffith specifically found Detective Edwards did not intentionally mislead or hide Lynch's previous relationship to the victim from the magistrate, and Edwards did not have any information from the investigation that Lynch was authorized to use Portia's car from June 10, 2006 through June 14, 2006, but quite the opposite. Border patrol agents initially searched Lynch's bags pursuant to a lawful border search. And, police thereafter waited until they had lawful search warrants from a neutral and detached magistrate before searching Lynch's luggage. *See* Illinois v. McArthur, 531 U.S. 326 (2001). The application of the exclusionary rule would make no sense under the facts of this case. Davis, *supra*; Brown, *supra*. The evidence seized from Lynch's luggage by West Columbia police should not be excluded. Id.

83 State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003)(admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence); State v. Braxton, 343 S.C. 629, 541 S.E.2d 833 (2001); State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 247 S.E.2d 334 (1978); State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 469 S.E.2d 49 (1996); State v. Douglas, 367 S.C. 498, 520, 626 S.E.2d 59, 71 (Ct. App. 2006).

evidence, such that no other rational conclusion could be reached. State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 460 S.E.2d 368 (1995). The evidence against Lynch was overwhelming. His guilt was conclusively proven, and no other rational conclusion could have been reached, independent of the challengeable evidence.⁸⁴ Even removing the evidence seized or obtained *after the lawful border search*, including Lynch's statements, the evidence of his guilt is still overwhelming.⁸⁵

84 Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained. Arnold v. State, 309 S.C. 157, 172, 420 S.E.2d 834, 842 (1992)); State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 563 S.E.2d 315 (2002).

85 Lynch resided with the two (2) victims in apartment M-7 Park Place Apartments up until the date of their disappearance and death. Lynch was the last person seen with the victims before their disappearance and murders. He was seen with them the afternoon of their disappearance and murder, June 10th, outside apartment M-7 Park Place Apartments. Lynch had previously had himself placed on the lease as Portia's spouse, even though the two (2) were never married. The evidence established prior to that Saturday night, June 10th, Lynch and Portia's romantic relationship was disintegrating. Portia was afraid of Lynch; she wanted him out of her apartment and life; and friends, relatives and co-workers had urged her to get away from him and even report what he was doing to her to the management at which she and Lynch worked. The following morning, Sunday morning, June 11th, Portia did not call or contact anyone, as was her regular habit. From June 10th forward, Portia and Angelica disappeared from the face of the earth. Portia's car was also missing beginning June 10th, and the following day, Sunday, June 11th. Even though Lynch was still in town on Sunday, Lynch did not report either Portia or Angelica missing. Instead, he withdrew a large amount of cash from his checking account at an ATM in Cayce. Instead of reporting for work on Monday, Lynch fled South Carolina, in Portia's automobile, a vehicle Portia had specifically instructed her mother not to allow Lynch to drive, and she did not want him driving. Lynch fled South Carolina in Portia's automobile before police or anyone else knew a crime had been committed in the apartment he shared with the victims. Lynch never reported the criminal assault on Angelica which took place in his bedroom. When Lynch arrived in Vicksburg, Mississippi, he falsely gave his home address as the State of Florida, checked into the motel alone, and paid for the room with untraceable cash. Lynch then continued to flee westward across the country and withdrew all of the remaining cash from his checking account while in Texas, i.e. emptying his checking account, and was stopped by a highway patrolman for speeding in Portia's new car near the Mexican Border. Lynch was alone and falsely told the highway patrolman there he was going to pick up his wife, the owner of the car, in Arizona. Portia Washington was not his wife, and she was not in Arizona but had already been murdered. Lynch then checked in to another motel alone, in Arizona, but this time was required to list his home address from his driver's license, which was correctly South Carolina. He again paid with untraceable cash. The following day, he left the motel and continued his flight across the country to Seattle, Washington, where he purchased a one way bus ticket out of the country. Before leaving, Lynch removed any identifying marks from Portia's stolen car, including the license plate and all paperwork from the glove box. Lynch continued his flight by trying to leave the country on a Greyhound bus, but was stopped by Canadian authorities. When he returned to the U.S. Customs Office, he was lawfully searched and his one way bus ticket to Vancouver and his motel receipts were found in his luggage. No cash however was located. When Portia did not appear for work and continued to be missing, it was her family and co-workers who reported her missing, not Lynch, and it was her family and co-workers who went to check on her whereabouts and welfare. When the manager of the apartment complex entered the apartment Lynch shared with the two (2) victims using a pass key, she found the linoleum and carpet had been cleaned. When police subsequently searched the residence more carefully, with a warrant, they discovered Angelica's blood underneath a reclining chair in the bedroom, and Angelica's blood intermingled with blood from a male contributor on two (2) different sinks. Lynch could not be excluded as the male contributor. Police also found medium velocity blood spatter containing Angelica's DNA indicating she had been criminally assaulted within the apartment. The spatter was found

Even assuming *arguendo*, error in the admission of evidence, the admission was harmless. Fulminante; Franklin; Miller; Kelley. The evidence against Lynch was overwhelming. Guilt was conclusively proven, and no other rational conclusion could have been reached. Even removing the evidence seized or obtained *after the lawful border search*, including Lynch's statements, the evidence of Lynch's guilt is still overwhelming. Haselden; Braxton; Blackburn.

Lynch's Prosecution and Conviction is Not Barred

Lynch also argues in his brief that his prosecution and conviction is barred because his extradition was improper. There is no merit to this argument. State v. Walker, 232 S.C. 290, 101 S.E.2d 826 (1958); State v. Waitus, 226 S.C. 44, 83 S.E.2d 629 (1954).⁸⁶ The exclusionary rule, when it is applied, only applies to evidence seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment, and does not apply to the person. United States Crews, 445 U.S. 463, 474 ("Respondent is not

underneath the bedroom recliner, and would had to have been deposited when the recliner was overturned, not upright as police found it. Someone had also tried to clean up the blood in the apartment. It was Lynch, the other occupant of the apartment, who fled from South Carolina before anyone knew Portia or Angelica had been murdered. Lynch's DNA was found on the steering wheel of Portia's abandoned car in Seattle. Lynch does not challenge the search of the apartment (crime scene) on appeal. It was searched with a search warrant. Further, Lynch had abandoned the apartment taking all personal identification paperwork with him. Portia's car was searched by Washington police after obtaining a lawful search warrant. Further, Lynch had abandoned the car at the bus terminal. Lynch does not contest the search of Portia's car on appeal.

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